1957

# Pacific Coast Title Insurance Co. v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Company : Brief of Hartford Accident & Indemnity Company on Appeal

Utah Supreme Court

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Three cases which were consolidated for trial in the district court, have been consolidated on appeal to this court. The defendant in each case is the Hartford Acci-

dent & Indemnity Company which was the surety on a contract bond of Cassady Company and C. P. Cassady, as principals. In two of these cases, it is the appellant and in the third case it is the respondent and cross-appellant. In this brief we shall refer to it as the Hartford. This brief is written as though the Hartford were the appellant in each case, since the points raised by it on its cross-appeal in the Felt case, are similar to those raised on its direct appeal in the other two cases.

The plaintiffs in each of the three cases are the three named obligees on the bond. The plaintiff, Prudential Federal Savings & Loan Association, is designated in the bond, as the lender obligee, and is herein referred to as Prudential Federal. The plaintiff Pacific Coast Title Insurance Company, is designated in the bond as the title obligee, and in this brief will be referred to as the Title Company. The plaintiff, Felt Syndicate, Inc., is a Nevada Corporation, designated in the bond as the owner obligee, and is herein referred to simply as Felt.

As above noted, the principals on the bond were Cassady Company, Inc., a corporation of the State of Utah, and C. P. Cassady. For purposes of these actions, they may be considered as one, and the name Cassady shall be used herein to designate either or both unless by context a different meaning is clearly made to appear. Another person not a party to this litigation, to which frequent reference will be made is Associated Accountants, a co-partnership, hereinafter referred to as Accountants.



The records on appeal in these cases consist of various papers, pleadings, orders, etc., filed and entered in each of the three cases, and a transcript of the testimony and trial proceedings together with certain exhibits received in evidence. In preparing the records on appeal, the Clerk prepared a separate folder and record for each case insofar as the papers and pleadings were concerned. However, there is only one transcript which is part of the record on appeal in all three cases. It is numbered in red numerals as part of the record in the Title Company case. Thus the record in the Title Company case as numbered and indexed by the Clerk, consists of 27 pages numbered consecutively from 1 to 27 plus the transcript whose pages are numbered in red from 28 to 452. The Prudential Federal record consists of 54 pages numbered consecutively from 1 to 54, and the Felt record consists of 59 pages, numbered consecutively from 1 to 59.

In order to avoid confusion all references to the transcript in this brief shall be indicated by the letter T. followed by the page number e.g. (T. 51). The number shall refer to the typewritten number rather than the red number. Thus page T.51 also bears the red number 79. References to the separate records of the individual cases shall be designated by the case name, the letter R., and the page number e.g. (Prud-Fed. R. 1, Felt R. 7, Tit. Co. R. 3. etc.).

## THE FACTS

These cases arise out of the following facts:

The promoters of Felt became interested in building a subdivision on a tract of land known as Morningside Heights Subdivision in Salt Lake County, in late 1949 or early 1950 (T. 228). Mr. Lloyd Broadhurst, one of the original promoters, contacted C. P. Cassady and C. J. Cassady, his son, who were builders in and around Arcadia, Calif., to determine whether they would be interested in building a one hundred unit subdivision (T. 228). The Cassadys were interested, and in about February of 1950, they came to Salt Lake City for the purpose of examining the tract, at which time they became acquainted with other promoters of Felt, and further discussed the prospective building program. (T. 229, 305).

At that time Felt provided the Cassadys with some plans and specifications of homes to be built on the subdivision. The Cassadys took these plans back to their place of business in California, and they were redrawn and redrafted by Cassady's own architects. (T. 229, 335). The purpose of this was so that Cassady would know exactly what materials and construction would be required. (T. 335-336). After the plans and specifications were redrafted by Cassady they were returned to Mr. B. D. Scott of Felt, who approved them. (T. 231, 336, 339). Scott submitted the plans to the Veterans Administration for approval and subsequently the Veterans Administration issued its certificates (Reasonable values; C.R.V.s.), to the effect that homes built according to such plans and specifications would be approved for G.I. loans up to a stated value. (T. 337-340). Scott

advised the Cassadys that the plans and specifications conformed to all local requirements of the Veterans Administration and with local building codes. (T. 231, 299).

Felt contemplated financing the entire project through a regular lending institution. On June 16, 1950, it entered into a contract with Prudential Federal, hereinafter referred to as the loan agreement, wherein the financial arrangements were outlined (Ex. Pr.-7). Under the terms of that agreement Prudential Federal agreed to loan to each owner and purchaser of the 100 lots in Morningside Heights Subdivision, funds in a specific amount, to be used in the construction and erection of a dwelling house and appurtenant improvements. The mortgage loans were to be made in accordance with the Servicemen's Readjustment Act of 1944, popularly known as the G.I. Bill of Rights. As a prerequisite to making the loan, Prudential Federal required that certain things be done, among which were the following: (1) that the mortgage loan be approved by Prudential Insurance Company of America, (not to be confused with Prudential Federal); (2) that an approved A.T.A. Title insurance policy showing title to the mortgaged real estate in the borrower, free and clear of all liens and incumbrances, except the lien for general taxes, be issued; (3) that the borrower pay a cash deposit to Prudential Federal to cover certain administrative and loan costs; (4) that the borrower authorize Prudential Federal in writing to make certain charges against the loan proceeds; (5) that the plans and survey of the homes be approved by the Veterans Administration; and (6) that

the borrower execute to Prudential Federal written authority to disburse the loan proceeds to pay course of construction costs on the home. The contract further provided in detail, as to the various stages of the completion of the home when disbursement of the mortgage loans would be made, e.g. 14% when the subfloor of the dwelling had been installed; 16% when the dwelling was to the square; 16% when the dwelling was roughed in, etc. (Ex. Pr-7).

The contract further provided that all the 100 homes would be completed within 180 days of the date of the agreement, and that failure on the part of Felt to complete within that time, would give Prudential Federal the right, upon ten days written notice, and at its election, to enter upon the real estate and complete or alter the dwelling house to comply with plans and specifications and for this purpose to use all of the loan proceeds and the payments. The contract further provided in detail the mechanical processes by which the parties under the contract would function. Included among these provisions was a provision for a bonded disbursing agency to make disbursements of the loan proceeds among Cassady, Felt and subcontractors and materialmen according to directions to be provided. Thus, Prudential Federal would make disbursements to Accountants in a lump sum figure, and Accountants would then take the responsibility for disbursing the funds among the various persons entitled to them. It was specifically provided in paragraph 2 of Article III that Accountants would secure from all laborers and materialmen and sub-

contractors, written lien waivers at the time of making payment to them, said waivers to cover in toto the amount of the particular disbursement of the loan proceeds made by Prudential Federal to Accountants. The contract then provided "such lien waivers *shall* be delivered to Prudential *prior to any further disbursement by Prudential* and Prudential will be under no obligation to make further disbursements until it shall have received lien waivers covering all prior disbursements." (Ex. Pr-7). (Emphasis ours).

Prior to the execution of the foregoing contract, construction work on a few homes had commenced some time in May or June of 1950. (T. 33, 59, 60, 318-319, 324). It appears that basement excavations had been dug upon perhaps a dozen or two of the 100 units. (T. 33, 59, 60, 318-319, 324). This work was performed by one Ross, a subcontractor of Felt and not of Cassady. (T. 330). During this period of time however, Cassady was negotiating with Felt for a construction contract. (T. 328).

A serious problem which entered into the negotiations was lack of adequate financing on the part of Cassady. (T. 37, 324, 326, 328). Cassady originally proposed to furnish what is known as a supervisal bond in the penal sum of \$100,000. (Depositions of C. P. Cassady, Deco Van Horn, Jr., and A. L. Blackburn, Exs. 39, 40, 41; T. 232). However, this was not acceptable to Prudential Federal. (T. 35, 412). Prudential Federal's attorneys prepared a form of bond which they deemed adequate for the protection of their interest and which was de-



livered to Cassady, and by him to his insurance agent in California. (T. 401, 403-405, 408, 419, 420; Exs. 38, 39, 40, 41). The bond finally issued by the Hartford was, in all respects material to this litigation, in the same form as the bond prepared by Prudential Federal's attorney. (Ex. Pr-7, H-38).

During this period of time Felt was negotiating with another contractor, and until the time Cassady actually signed the construction contract, it was questionable whether Cassady or the other contractor would eventually get the job of building the 100 homes. (T. 328, 329).

Finally these problems were worked out to the satisfaction of the various parties, and on July 19, 1950, Cassady entered into a contract with Felt, which is hereinafter referred to as the Construction Contract. (Ex. Pr-2). Under the terms of that agreement, Cassady agreed "to *supervise, co-ordinate and procure*, the construction of a total of 100 houses upon *contiguous* lots," (emphasis ours), in Morningside Heights Subdivision. It was agreed that such homes would be built in strict conformity with the plans and specifications, and in conformity with any plans, duties and obligations required by any governmental agency having the right to demand that said work should be performed in the manner specified by such agency, and also in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Veterans Administration. By paragraph 15 it was provided that neither party would assign, transfer or pledge, in whole or in part, the agreement or any of its rights or obligations

thereunder without the written consent of the other party first had and obtained. (Ex. Pr-2).

By paragraph 22, the number of houses to be built according to each basic floor plan was specified, together with the cost per unit and it was further provided in said paragraph that if the parties should thereafter agree to any change or alterations in the plans or specifications, and if such change should increase the cost of construction of the unit affected by such change, such increased cost would be added to the cost per house therein agreed upon. (Ex. Pr-2).

Paragraph 23 provided among other things, the schedule of payments following the course of construction schedule. This is at slight variance with the schedule of payments set forth in the loan agreement. This paragraph further provided inspections would be made at intervals not to exceed 15 days, and that the payments therein provided would be made within five days after the inspection. It was further provided as follows: "The foregoing schedule is to be used as a general guide. However, it is agreed that *disbursements will be made to second party* and the subcontractors in accordance with the *actual stage of completion* of each dwelling *within five days* after the inspections are made." (Emphasis ours).

By paragraph 24 of the same agreement Felt obligated itself to furnish and procure a power connection. By paragraph 26, Cassady agreed to commence construction under the contract within ten days from the

date of execution, and to cause the same to be carried forward diligently and expeditiously until all of the 100 houses had been completed, and to complete all of the 100 houses within 180 days from the date of execution of the agreement. (Ex. Pr-2).

On July 21, the Hartford issued its bond naming the three plaintiffs as obligees. (Ex. Pr-1). The last whereas clause of the bond recites:

“WHEREAS, the LENDER OBLIGEE, TITLE OBLIGEE, and OWNER OBLIGEE each desire protection as their interest may appear, in the event of default by the PRINCIPAL under said contract, *said protection to be subject to the performance by the LENDER OBLIGEE, the TITLE OBLIGEE and the OWNER OBLIGEE of their respective obligations* to the PRINCIPAL in connection with said contract; . . . .” (Emphasis ours).

The bond was conditioned as follows:

“NOW, THEREFORE, the condition of this obligation is such that, if the PRINCIPAL well and truly performs all of the undertakings, covenants, conditions and agreements of said contract on its part and fully indemnifies and saves harmless the obligees from all loss, costs, damage, and expense which they may suffer, either jointly and severally, by reason of failure so to do, and fully reimburses and repays obligees all outlay and expense which said obligees may incur in making good any such default; and further, if the PRINCIPAL shall pay all persons who have contracted, or will have contracted, directly with



PRINCIPAL for services or labor or materials furnished under the provisions of said contract, and shall keep and maintain each lot or building-site free and clear of labor and material liens, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise, it shall remain in full force and effect.” (Ex. Pr-1).

On page 2 of the bond the following provision 3 was set forth:

“The SURETY shall not be liable under the Bond to the Obligees, *and either of them, unless the Obligees, or either of them, shall make payment to the PRINCIPAL in reasonable compliance with the terms of said contract as to payments, and each shall perform all other obligations to be performed by each obligee under said contract* at the time and in the manner therein set forth.” (Emphasis ours.)

The provision last quoted, is of crucial importance to the determination of these cases. It is significant that this language is identical to that contained in the bond form prepared by Prudential Federal’s attorneys. It is Prudential Federal’s language. (Ex. Pr-8, Pr-38).

On August 10, 1950, Felt, Cassady, Accountants and Prudential Federal entered into a four party agreement, hereinafter referred to as the disbursal agreement. (Ex. Pr-8). This agreement provided in detail for the mechanics of disbursing the mortgage funds among the various parties entitled to receive the same. Paragraph 4 thereof reiterated the provisions of the loan agreement, requiring Accountants to obtain lien waivers from the laborers and materialmen, and to deliver the same to Prudential Federal before the latter firm would be

under any obligation to make further disbursements of loan proceeds. Paragraph 6 provided that in the event that inspections made by the Veterans Administration and Prudential Federal would disclose that the construction of any dwelling did not conform with the plans and specifications, Prudential Federal might withhold further disbursements of funds in connection with such dwelling house until corrections have been made to make such dwelling conform with plans and specifications. (Ex. Pr-8). Paragraph 5, together with Exhibit B attached to said agreement, provided in minute detail as to the exact percentage of completion represented by each phase of the work; and further provided that work should be inspected every two weeks, and that within five days thereafter Cassady should be paid for work done to the date of inspection. For example, excavation and grading represented 1.82% of the total work; concrete foundation represented 4.17% of the work; and the foundation complete represented 9.09% of the work. Under the terms of this agreement, as well as under the terms of the construction agreement, Cassady was entitled to be paid the exact percentage which he had earned up to the time of each inspection.

Paragraphs 11 and 12 provided for compensation of Accountants by Cassady, and Felt. Paragraph 13 provided that the compensation provided was based upon the assumption that inspections would be made not oftener than two weeks, and that there would be 12 to 14 periods of disbursement. In the event of more frequent inspections, or more disbursement periods than

14, Accountants would be paid a reasonable compensation for such additional work. (Ex. Pr-8).

Promptly upon the execution of the construction agreement Cassady entered upon the performance of his obligations thereunder. (T. 232, 233, 332). He immediately ran into difficulties. (T. 233). Felt failed to provide a power connection which it had agreed to provide in the construction agreement. (T. 197, 233, 313; Ex. H-32). As a result, Cassady was put to the expense of procuring a gasoline powered electric generator at a cost to him of \$2,137.44. (T. 197, 233, 240; Ex. H-32). Water was not available as agreed and surveys were slow. (T. 233).

More serious, was the failure of Felt's sales program to keep pace with the construction program. Although Cassady understood that the homes were practically all sold at the time the construction agreement was entered into, such was not the case. (T. 233, 257). Prudential Federal refused to disburse loan proceeds for any particular unit until an A.T.A. title policy had issued, and a mortgage had been executed by the purchaser-borrower and recorded. (T. 250). In some instances this was not accomplished until December of 1950, at a time when the construction work should have been virtually completed. (T. 38, 62, 105; Ex. Pr-36). This problem was further aggravated by cancellations by some veteran borrowers due to delay in prosecuting the work, thus occasioning further delay in locating, selling and signing a new veteran borrower. (T. 39, 323).

There were also cancellations and delays due to the Prudential Insurance Company refusing to approve some of the veteran purchasers. (T. 322, 323).

From the very outset there was a deficiency of monies. (T. 64, 65, 67, 235, 236, 258, 321, 347; Ex.s H-13-15). The project was "thirsting" for necessary money. (T. 64). At the time of the first inspection Cassady received but a very small fraction of the funds he was entitled to receive in accordance with the actual stage of construction. (T. 235, 258, Ex. H-32). After one month of work, Cassady had earned approximately \$80,000 and had been paid only about \$7,000. (Ex. H-32). He of course, made complaint about this, but there was no other money available at that time because the sales program and mortgage recording program were badly behind schedule. (T. 62, 65, 67, 262, 347; Ex.s H-32-H-34, Pr-36).

The project was designed to be accomplished by mass production methods. Cassady could not economically jump about the project from lot to lot as mortgages were recorded. Economical completion within the time contemplated by the contract, demanded that the houses be built in straight line order. (T. 332). Not having received the monies to which he was entitled, Cassady did not have sufficient funds to pay his laborers and material suppliers. (T. 66, 67, 236, 347; Exs. H-32-33). They became dissatisfied and threatened to discontinue furnishing labor and materials. (T. 67, 236, 268; Exs. H-13-15). The condition persisted, and the attitude of

the subcontractors and materialmen became more difficult. (T. 67, 236; Ex.s H-32-33). Many of them refused to continue performance and Cassady was required to find other materialmen in lieu thereof. (T. 236; Ex.s H-32, 33).

A good example of how this worked out is a random sample taken by the witness H. M. Calvert from the records of Prudential Federal. The first payment or disbursement of mortgage funds on Lot No. 161 was \$3,398.40. (T. 378; Ex. Pr-36). The amount of this payment indicates that the home was more than one-third completed at that time. Under Cassady's contract he would have been entitled to several progress payments before that time. (T. 379). However, because no mortgage had been recorded, he did not receive these badly needed payments, at the time when they would have done the most good. (T. 250, 251, 378-379). The exact language of Mr. Cassady on this point, colorfully, if not grammatically, describes the problem.

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