1957

Prudential Federal Savings & Loan Association v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co : Brief of Prudential Federal Savings & Loan Association, Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

THIS IS A LAW CASE AND THE FINDINGS OF THE TRIAL COURT ARE ENTITLED TO APPROVAL BY THE SUPREME COURT IF SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT EVIDENCE.

POINT III

THE PARTIES TO THE PRIMARY CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT AND THE CONTRACT BOND COMPROMISED AND SETTLED ANY AND ALL PRIOR CLAIMED CONTRACT BREACHES BY THE SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT OF FEBRUARY 16, 1951.

POINT IV

HARTFORD IS ESTOPPED TO DENY THAT THE SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT OF FEBRUARY 16, 1951 COMPROMISED AND SETTLED PRIOR ALLEGED BREACHES BY FELT AND PRUDENTIAL.

POINT V

EXPRESSIONS OF OPINION AS TO THE CONSTRUCTION OR INTERPRETATION OF A CONTRACT BY ONE OF THE PARTIES THERETO AFTER A CONTROVERSY HAS ARISEN AS TO THE LIABILITY TO IT OF THE OTHER PARTY TO THE CONTRACT AND NOT ACTED UPON BY THE OTHER PARTY HAVE NO WEIGHT OR RELEVANCY IN INTERPRETING THE CONTRACT.

POINT VI

THE RULE GOVERNING THE INTERPRETATION OF CONTRACTS THAT WHERE A CONTRACT BEARS MORE THAN ONE REASONABLE MEANING AN INTERPRETATION IS PREFERRED WHICH OPERATES MORE STRONGLY AGAINST THE PARTY FROM WHOM IT PROCEEDS HAS NO APPLICATION IN THIS CASE. HARTFORD'S REPRESENTATIVE CRITICALLY EXAMINED A PRELIMINARY DRAFT OF THE BOND MADE BY PRUDENTIAL, ALTERED IT SEVERAL RESPECTS; CAUSED THE BOND TO BE TYPEWRITTEN IN HIS OWN OFFICE AND FINALLY EXECUTED IT ON BEHALF OF HARTFORD. THE BOND IS IN LEGAL EFFECT AN INSURANCE CONTRACT AND HARTFORD IS A COMPENSATED SURETY AGAINST WHOM THE BOND WILL BE CONSTRUED FAVORABLE TO THE OBLIGEEES.

POINT VII

PRUDENTIAL DID NOT VIOLATE ANY OF ITS CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS OWING BY IT EITHER TO HARTFORD, CASSADY OR FELT SUCH AS WOULD BAR ITS RECOVERY OF DAMAGES.

POINT VIII

IN ARRIVING AT A CORRECT CONSTRUCTION AND INTERPRETATION OF THE BOND, THE COURT SHOULD RECOGNIZE THAT THE ACTIVITIES OF PACIFIC AND ITS RELATIONSHIP TO THIS CASE ARE WHOLLY IMMATERIAL AND IRRELEVANT, AND THAT PRUDENTIAL IS A THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY UNDER THE CONTRACT BETWEEN FELT AND CASSADY DATED JULY 19, 1950 (EX. PR-2). THE COURT SHOULD THEN APPLY CERTAIN WELL RECOGNIZED RULES OF INTERPRETATION AND CONSTRUCTION OF CONTRACTS.

POINT IX

VIOLATIONS (IF SUCH VIOLATIONS OCCURRED) BY FELT OF ITS CONTRACTS WITH CASSADY CANNOT BE IMPUTED TO PRUDENTIAL SO AS TO BAR PRUDENTIAL'S RECOVERY AGAINST HARTFORD ON THE BOND. THE BOND SECURED DISTINCT AND SEPARATE RIGHTS OF THE OBLIGEEES. HARTFORD ASSUMED DISTINCT OBLIGATIONS TO PRUDENTIAL WHICH DID NOT RUN TO EITHER FELT OR PACIFIC AND PRUDENTIAL MAY THEREFORE HAVE ITS SEPARATE ACTION FOR THE BREACH OF THOSE OBLIGATIONS. HARTFORD CANNOT DEFEND PRUDENTIAL'S ACTION ON THE GROUND THAT THE OTHER OBLIGEEES, OR EITHER OF THEM, VIOLATED THE CONTRACTS WITH CASSADY OR BREACHED CONDITIONS OF THE BOND.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FINDINGS AND JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF PRUDENTIAL ARE SUPPORTED BY ADEQUATE, COMPETENT AND MATERIAL EVIDENCE.

POINT II

THIS IS A LAW CASE AND THE FINDINGS OF THE TRIAL COURT ARE ENTITLED TO APPROVAL BY THE SUPREME COURT IF SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT EVIDENCE.

The Morningside Heights Subdivision required financing through an individual mortgage on each of the one hundred lots. No project, construction loan was intended or ever contracted. As prospective Veteran purchasers were found for the one hundred lots, each applied separately for a loan from Pru-

dential. Each loan necessarily had to go through the customary processing of loan applications, credit report, inspection, approval by the Veterans Administration, approval by the loan committee, execution of the note and mortgage, search of the records, recording of the mortgage and issuance of a policy of title insurance.

Knowing of this and being experienced in the complications of loans to Veterans, Prudential was unwilling to accept a "supervisory" type of bond as originally tendered by Cassady. (C. J. Cassady's deposition, Ex. H39, P. 6, R. 281). All parties were advised as to the project generally and Prudential required a performance bond generally such as was finally executed by Hartford. Then in reliance upon this bond, rather than the newly formed corporation, Cassady Company, it proceeded to loan moneys on the separate 100 mortgages as and when the same were executed and delivered.

With nearly \$1,000,000.00 committed to this Morningside Heights project, and being subject to disbursement of the loaned moneys as authorized by the several Veteran borrowers, Prudential could not indiscriminately pour in money to meet the needs of Cassady. The financial troubles of Cassady stem from many sources, not merely lags in the availability of funds from the mortgages. The evidence shows that Cassady was without adequate financing

of its own to carry forward independent of the loan proceeds. Cassady's construction practices apparently were not efficient. There was inadequate supervision of the work and materials of the subcontractors made by Cassady. Not one of the 100 houses was ever taken to final completion by Cassady so as to procure the required approval by the Veterans' Administration, and the guaranty of Prudential's mortgages.

Prudential was not responsible for those basic causes of the breakdown, nor were either of the other two obligees of the Bond, Felt and Pacific. They all relied upon Hartford's Bond to guarantee performance by Cassady. Cassady by the primary construction contract of July 19, 1950, covered by the Bond, agreed to cause construction to be started within ten days and "carried forward diligently and expeditiously until all of the one hundred houses have been completed . . . within 180 days from the date of execution of this agreement . . ." (Para. 26, Ex. PR-2). The paragraph extended the completion time should delays be caused by Felt. Then it reiterated that Cassady "covenants and agrees that the construction of said houses shall be completed within the time herein set forth. Time is declared to be of the essence." Paragraph 2 of this same basic construction contract bound Cassady to construct the 100 houses "in strict conformity with the

specifications, plans and drawings” and “also in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Veterans Administration, the Federal Housing Administration and the Prudential Federal Savings and Loan Association, as the case may be.”

Why was it vital to Prudential that such construction be completed as scheduled and in accordance with the rules of the Veterans Administration and that it have a guaranty of such performance by Hartford? Prudential had agreed to loan about \$1,000,000.00 to the 100 prospective Veteran borrowers, when they were found and proper mortgages had been executed, approved and recorded. These were only 4% interest bearing loans for 100% of the appraised value of the dwellings if completed in accordance with the Veterans Administration rules and had a duration of 25 years. Upon such completion, the loans were to be guaranteed by the Veterans Administration. Prudential had an agreement whereby Prudential Insurance Company of America would purchase from it those one hundred mortgages. Hartford stipulates that not one of the one hundred houses was ever completed by Cassady in conformance with the rules of the Veterans Administration. Thus Prudential was never able to sell the mortgages and has been compelled to hold these low grade mortgages in its portfolio. It has suffered the damages awarded by the trial Court. Hartford

by its brief does not contest the amount or method of computing the damages (p. 26 of Appellant's brief.)

It is with this background that the Contract Bond must be understood and interpreted. The July 19, 1950 construction contract (Ex. PR-2) was incorporated by reference into the bond.

The last "Whereas" clause of the Bond recites that "the Lender Obligee, Title Obligee and Owner Obligee *each* desire protection as their interests may appear, in the event of the default by the Principal under said contract. . ." (Emphasis ours).

The bond then undertakes in the next paragraph to indemnify and save harmless the obligees "from all loss, cost, damage, and expense which they may suffer . . ." Paragraph 2 of the Conditions in the Bond gives Hartford the option to cure any of Cassidy's defaults in performance of the construction contract (but Hartford never offered to cure any of the defaults). Then paragraph 6 reads:

"The prior written approval of SURETY shall be required with regard to any changes or alterations in said contract where the cost thereof, added to prior changes or alterations, causes the aggregate cost of all changes and alterations to exceed 10 per cent of the original contract price; but, except as to the foregoing, any alterations which may be made in the terms of the contract, or in the work to be done under it, or the giving by the Obligees of any extension of

time for the performance of the contract, or any other forbearance on the part of either the Obligees or PRINCIPAL to the other, shall not in any way release SURETY or PRINCIPAL of the obligations of this instrument, notice of SURETY of any such alterations, extension, or forbearance being hereby waived.”

All of the changes and alterations pointed to by Appellant to excuse its liability under the Bond do not even approximate 10% of the original contract price of \$763,000.00. In addition, the extra costs, minor changes and alterations were all taken into account in February of 1951 when an extension of time was granted to Cassady and the price per house was increased, with the written consent of Appellant (Ex. PR-6).

Point I of Appellants brief refers to four Findings in this case which it claims are “wholly unsupported by the evidence”:

(a) Finding 4, referring only to the Felt’s qualification to do business, undoubtedly will be covered by Felt’s brief but is immaterial and irrelevant as to Hartford’s liability to Prudential;

(b) Finding 27 refers to a purported failure of Prudential to collect lien waivers from Accountants and the Court found that such did not result in any damage to Hartford or Cassady. In the first place this collection of lien waivers was a duty imposed on Accountants and merely an optional right

vested in Prudential. See Ex. PR-7—contract of June 16, 1950, Ex. PR-8—contract of August 10, 1950 and Ex. PR-6, Supplemental Agreement of February 16, 1951. In the second place, Prudential could only disburse funds as authorized by the borrowers and they together with Cassady, Felt and Hartford granted it discretionary powers of disbursement and none imposed upon Prudential a duty to collect lien waivers. This point will be more fully discussed in Point VII of this brief.

(c) Finding 29 is criticized on the ground that the Court “apparently determined that Cassady should not have commenced work until all of the mortgages had been executed and recorded.” The finding does not say or infer that. It relates to the undisputed fact that the “delay” in disbursing funds complained about by Appellant and Cassady was not by reason of any fault on the part of Prudential as Cassady or Appellant knew that no funds could be disbursed until the mortgages had been executed and recorded. Cassady knew of its own financial means, its own credit sources and abilities and elected to commence and prosecute work prior to the recording of any of the mortgages. The evidence shows that Cassady knew that there was a separate loan agreement on each of the 100 separate lots and Prudential would not advance money on a lot if the mortgage had not been recorded (C.

J. Cassady's testimony R. 250-1). Cassady took the initiative in going forward with its own money, sub-contractors and credit. If Cassady had considered itself delayed by Felt not paying the money on a certain schedule, Cassady could have extended the contract completion date until such had been corrected. Nevertheless Cassady plunged forward in building houses. It knew that it had no right to claim any money until each individual house was partially completed. The said construction contract further bound Cassady to arrange with its sub contractors to hold off their claims for payment in accordance with the percentage of completion schedule. In no event was more than 75% of the agreed price per house to be paid until it had "passed all necessary inspections of the Veterans Administration, . . .". (Para. 23 of Ex. PR-2).

(d) Finding 39 is a determination that the alleged breaches by Felt were not "substantial" and that if such had been, still the Supplemental Agreement of February 16, 1951 resolved the same by the extensions of time and increase in the price per house to be paid by Felt to Cassady. We shall leave to Felt a detailed response to the individual asserted breaches. At this time we point out that even if Felt had breached its contractual duties to Cassady, Hartford would still be liable severally, as a compensated surety, to Prudential. This point will be

discussed more in detail elsewhere in this brief. Likewise we shall analyze elsewhere in detail the effect of the accord and compromise arrangement accomplished by the Supplemental Agreement of February 16, 1951. We reiterate that the record shows that the purported breaches attributed by Appellant to Felt were not material. A compensated surety will not be discharged unless it shows actual prejudice to it by some departure by the obligee—there must be a *material* variance from the contract and only in such event there is a pro-tanto discharge of the surety.

50 Am. Jur., Suretyship, Sec. 320, Pg. 1115.

Appellant's "escape" paragraph is paragraph 3 of the conditions of the Bond which reads:

"The SURETY shall not be liable under this Bond to the Obligees, and either of them, unless the Obligees, or either of them, shall make payment to the PRINCIPAL in reasonable compliance with the terms of said contract as to payments, and each shall perform all other obligations to be performed by each Obligee under said contract at the time and in the manner therein set forth."

The obligations, referred to therein are contained in "said contract" being the construction contract of July 19, 1950 (Ex. PR-2) between Felt and Casady. Prudential and Pacific demanded the Bond as a condition precedent to the loaning of any monies

or the insuring of the mortgage liens. Any asserted breach by Felt could not be held against Prudential as it had no duties under "said contract".

Elsewhere in this brief we shall touch upon rules of construction of contracts executed by compensated sureties and the strict construction in favor of the obligees. The co-relative rule is that ambiguities extant in the contract of the compensated surety shall be resolved against the surety.

The following "hornbook" rule is vital in considering the Findings of the trial court:

"In a law case the trial judge sitting without a jury serves in two capacities. He finds the facts as a jury would and applies the law; we may not therefore go further into questions of fact in a law case tried to the court than we could in a law case tried to the jury. The judge passes exclusively upon the credibility of the witnesses and the weight of the evidence". (*Colemere vs. Layton*, 82 Utah 142, 22 Pac. (2nd) 218.)

Of equal importance is

". . . that on conflicting matters the evidence is to be viewed in the light most favorable to the party for whom judgment was entered, and when so viewed, if there is evidence supporting the judgment it will not be disturbed." (*Staley vs. Grant*, 2 Ut. (2d) 421, 276 Pac. (2d) 489.)

It is submitted that there is substantial evidence supporting each and every one of the Findings

questioned by Appellant, and that within the operating ambit of the foregoing rules said Findings should not be disturbed on appeal.

POINT III

THE PARTIES TO THE PRIMARY CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT AND THE CONTRACT BOND COMPROMISED AND SETTLED ANY AND ALL PRIOR CLAIMED CONTRACT BREACHES BY THE SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT OF FEBRUARY 16, 1951.

POINT IV

HARTFORD IS ESTOPPED TO DENY THAT THE SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT OF FEBRUARY 16, 1951 COMPROMISED AND SETTLED PRIOR ALLEGED BREACHES BY FELT AND PRUDENTIAL.

During the last five months of 1950 and January of 1951 difficulties arose on the project. Cassady complained that it had been injured by the slowness of Felt in selling the lots and the consequent delays in making money available to Cassady from the Veterans' mortgages to Prudential. The cost of materials had been going up. Prudential was unable to disburse any money until appropriate mortgages had been executed and recorded. It had been delayed because of the necessity of first having the proposed Veteran borrower approved by the U. S. Veterans Administration before any action could be taken by its own loan committee.

Cassady had also complained about the failure of Felt to supply a power connection to it at the inception of the project and that it had performed

some extra labor and furnished extra materials for which it had not been compensated by Felt.

On the other hand, Cassady was wrangling with its sub-contractors as to their methods and supervision (Ex. H-33) and Cassady was not completing the houses on schedule, or at all. Both Felt and Prudential had become greatly alarmed. Prudential's commitment from Prudential Insurance Company of America to purchase the mortgages as soon as they were guaranteed by the Veterans Administration, was expiring. All parties realized that something needed to be done to rejuvenate the project.

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